A LOCAL AUTHORITY PURCHASING AND DISTRIBUTION CONSORTIUM

CONSORTIUM SECRETARY: JOHN SINNOTT, MA, Dipl. P.A., CHIEF EXECUTIVE, LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Date: 26 November 2014

My Ref BH/ESPO
Please ask for: Ben Holihead
Direct Dialling (0116) 305 6339

e-mail: ben.holihead@leics.gov.uk

To: Members of the ESPO Management Committee

Dear Member,

ESPO MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

A meeting of the Management Committee will be held on Thursday, 4 December 2014 at 10.30 am in the Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield, Leicestershire.

A buffet lunch will be provided after the meeting. Please telephone or email me (details above) to confirm that you require lunch and, if so, whether you have any special dietary requirements.

Yours faithfully,

Ben Holihead for Consortium Secretary

AGENDA

<u>Item</u> <u>Pages</u>

- To remember Councillor John Reynolds, Cambridgeshire County Council, Chairman of the Management Committee 2008 and 2014.
- 2. Apologies.
- Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2014.

(Pages 3 - 6)

4. To advise of any items that the Chairman has decided to take as urgent elsewhere on the agenda.

- 5. Declarations of interests in respect of items on this agenda.
- 6. Items referred by the Finance and Audit Subcommittee.
- 7. Proposed Changes to the Contract Procedure Rules.

(Pages 7 - 36)

(Report of the Director)

The Chairman will be requested to consider item 10 on the agenda which contains exempt information alongside the following item:

8. Director's Progress Update.

(Pages 37 -

42)

(Report of the Director)

- 9. Dates of Future Meetings.
 - 4 March 2015, 10.30am County Hall
 - 24 June 2015, 10.30am County Hall
 - 23 September 2015, 10.30am ESPO Warehouse
 - 4 December 2015, 10.30am County Hall
- 10. Any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent.

The public are likely to be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following items of business in accordance with the provisions of Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.

11. Supplementary Information Informing the Progress Report of the Director's Progress Update.

(Pages 43 - 48)

(Exempt under paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12(A))

(Report of the Director)

12. Strategic Discussion Document to Inform MTFS Assumptions for 2015-19.

(Pages 49 - 66)

(Exempt under paragraphs 3 and 10 of Schedule 12(A))

(Joint Report of the Director and Consortium Treasurer)

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of a meeting of the ESPO Management Committee held at County Hall, Glenfield, Leicestershire on Thursday, 25 September 2014.

PRESENT

Mr. J. Reynolds CC (in the Chair)

Mr. J. Clarke CC
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC
Mr. G. A. Hart CC
Mr. J. Holdich CC
Mr. J. Holdich CC
Mr. J. Ransome CC
Mr. J. Holdich CC
Mr. J. Ransome CC

89. Minutes of the previous meeting.

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2014 were taken as read, confirmed and signed as a correct record.

90. <u>Urgent Items.</u>

The Chairman reported that there were no urgent items for consideration.

91. Declarations of interests.

The Chairman invited those who wished to do so to declare an interest in respect of items on the agenda.

No declarations were made.

92. External Audit of the 2013/14 Financial Statements.

The Management Committee considered a joint report of the Director and Consortium Secretary which reported on the external auditor's key findings from the 2013/14 financial statements and presented a letter of representation from the Consortium Treasurer to the auditors. A copy of the report, marked 'Agenda Item 4', is filed with these minutes.

The Chairman welcomed Tom Gibbs and Catherine Bru from Pricewaterhousecoopers (PWC), ESPO's external auditors, to the meeting who communicated the results of their audit.

Arising from discussion, the following principal points were noted:-

(i). The external auditors reported a positive audit for 2013/14 and that an unqualified audit opinion would be issued. No significant matters were required to be reported back to the Committee. They also noted that the following year would be the final audit delivered by PWC before retendering;

- (ii). The completion of the audit would be subject to the approval of the final version of the Statement of Accounts. The external auditors were pleased to report the accounts were produced on time and commended ESPO's accounting performance;
- (iii). Members confirmed that they remained satisfied with the appropriateness of accounting for gas accruals on a cash basis, noting that ESPO did not have access to its customers' meters, that the methodology was consistent with previous years and that the impact was unlikely to be material;
- (iv). Due to the economic climate there had been an increase in the risk of fraud. However there was no fraudulent activity to report.

RESOLVED:

That the external audit of the financial statements 2013/14 be approved.

93. Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 2013/14.

The Management Committee considered a joint report of the Director and Consortium Secretary which reported on the 2013/14 Accounts and Annual Governance statement. A copy of the report marked 'Agenda Item 5' is filed with these minutes.

Arising from discussion the following principal points were noted:-

- (i). Leicester City Council formally left the consortium in July 2014, and that a new Consortium agreement was in place;
- (ii). There were minor governance issues to be carried forward for monitoring in 2014/15. The Director welcomed the suggestions from members as to how to improve internal communication;
- (iii). Whilst it was important for ESPO to be competitive, as a public body it was also subject to Freedom of Information (FOI) requests. The Director confirmed that whilst they did comply with FOI requests, they were wary of organisations trying to use FOI as a means to commercial gain;
- (iv). The need for succession planning was recognised and what was in hand to address those areas of the business considered high risk, particularly those referring to ICT procurement and sales.

RESOLVED:

That the Draft Statement of Accounts 2013/14 and the Annual Governance Statement be approved.

94. <u>Director's Progress Update.</u>

The Management Committee gave consideration to a report of the Director which provided an update of the actions and progress made since the previous ESPO Management Committee held on 26th June 2014. A copy of the report,

marked 'Agenda Item 6', is filed with these minutes.

Arising from questions and comments the members of the Management Committee were advised as follows:-

- (i). There was a shortfall of nearly £3m in the budget primarily due to gas sales being lower than anticipated as a result of milder weather. However it was noted that the margins on gas are very small, and therefore would not pose a significant issue in terms of profitability and reserves;
- (ii). It was important to continue identifying emerging trends in the market and alternative business models. It was hoped that an analysis of these trends, and the impact on the ESPO business model, would be considered as part of the next MTFS;
- (iii). In August a staff survey was issued to track progress in areas that were highlighted in the previous year's staff survey. The Director said he would report back to the Committee the key themes emerging once the data from this was available;
- (iv). That during peak period it became evident that there was limited space in the current warehouse. After informal discussions with members prior to the meeting the Management Committee was requested to authorise the Director to explore the feasibility of leasing office space available opposite the ESPO building. This would only be a three year lease and would not commit ESPO to anything long-term;
- (v). There was a degree of confidence in the financial forecasts relating to trading income and products as these were based on historical trading and income received was allocated to the correct accounting period;
- (vi). With regard to the ESPO Essentials catalogue, the Director stated he would advise Councillor Monson of whether the tea and coffee being supplied in the catalogue was Fairtrade. The Director stated that he would be reporting back to the Committee on a possible price uplift;
- (vii). That the Balanced Scorecard in Appendix 1 was produced quarterly, and since then the sickness absence rate (days per FTE) was now at 8 days, 0.5 days above target;
- (viii). The delay in obtaining the necessary stock for the new school meals scheme was the main reason for stock availability being below the 98% target.

RESOLVED:

- a) That the contents of the report be noted;
- b) That the Director in consultation with the Consortium Treasurer be authorised to explore the feasibility and, if appropriate, enter into a three year leasing arrangement for additional storage in the building adjacent to the current ESPO building.

95. Items referred by the Finance and Audit Subcommittee.

There were no items for consideration.

96. <u>Date of Next Meeting.</u>

NOTED:

That the next meeting of the Management Committee would be held on Thursday 4 December 2014 at 10.30 am at County Hall, Glenfield.

97. Any other items.

There were no other items.

98. Supplementary Information supporting the Director's Progress Update.

The Management Committee received an exempt report from the Director, which set out further supplementary information to Item 6 on the agenda, Director's Progress Update. A copy of the exempt report, marked 'Agenda Item 10' is filed with these minutes.

The exempt report was not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 and 10 of Section 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted.

11.00 am - 12.25 pm 25 September 2014 **CHAIRMAN**



ESPO MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE - 4 DECEMBER 2014

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7

PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Purpose of Report

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Management Committee of the operation of the Contract Procedure Rules between 1 July 2013 and 30 June 2014 and to seek approval of the proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules for 2014/15.

Background

- 2. Rule 7 (Annual Reporting) of ESPO's Contract Procedure Rules stipulates that the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the County Solicitor, shall at least once in each financial year submit a report to the Management Committee in relation to the operation of these Rules. This includes (amongst other things) details of the approved exceptions to these Rules and approved extensions to contract where this has not been provided for in the contract, and proposed revisions to these Rules and/or changes required to accommodate the requirements of UK and EU procurement law, as may be necessary from time to time.
- 3. Officers of Leicestershire County Council and ESPO work together on an annual basis to review the Contract Procedure Rules and agree on any draft revisions and amendments to be proposed for approval.

Approved Exceptions to the Rules

3. There were no exceptions to the Rules between 1 July 2013 and 30 June 2014.

<u>Approved Contract Extensions where no provision in the Contract</u> the Rules

4. Between 1 July 2013 and 30 June 2014, in compliance with Rule 30 (iv), 2 contract extensions were approved (see Appendix A). The main reason for extending these contracts was to ensure a contract was in place while the retender of the contracts was completed.

Proposed Revisions to the Rules

- 5. In January 2014, the European Parliament passed a new set of procurement directives to be enacted into law by member states within 2 years. It is expected that the EU Directive 2014/24/EU on public procurement when passed into UK law will introduce substantial changes to the practice of public procurement. For this reason a comprehensive review of ESPO's Contract Procedure Rules will be conducted after the new Public Contracts Regulations have been passed in the UK.
- 5. Pending the review referred to above, a few minor changes to the operation of the Contract Procedure Rules have been supported by the following officers:

Leicestershire County Council

- Head of Procurement and Resilience
- Head of Legal Services
- Head of Democratic Services and Administration
- Head of Internal Audit Service
- Assistant Director (Strategic Finance and Procurement)

ESPO

- Director
- Assistant Director (Procurement and Compliance)

Appendix B documents the changes proposed to the Contract Procedure Rules.

- 6. A copy of the draft amended Contract Procedure Rules 2014-15 is set out at Appendix C, reflecting the proposed changes.
- 7. The proposed amendments to Leicestershire County Council's Contract Procedure Rules were agreed by the Corporate Governance Committee on 23 September 2014. A report on the review of the Contract Procedure Rules for 2014-15 will be taken to Leicestershire County Council's full council meeting on 3 December 2014 for approval.
- 8. Should the Management Committee approve the draft revised Contract Procedure Rules, they will be published on ESPO's intranet and internet and communicated to all relevant managers and staff within ESPO.

Resources Implications

9. None.

Recommendation

10. Members are asked to note/approve the changes to the Contract Procedure Rules for ESPO.

Equal Opportunities Implications

11. ESPO must follow relevant laws and Council policies on equal opportunities. This includes making sure contracts are appointed fairly and equally.

Risk Assessment

12. The purpose of this report is to support ESPO's approach to the management of risk.

Background Papers

13. None.

Officer to Contact

John Doherty, Director J.Doherty@espo.org, 0116 265 7931

Appendices

Appendix A: Approved contract extensions 2013-14

Appendix B: Proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules 2013-14 (origin of table – Leicestershire County Council)

Appendix C: Draft revised Contract Procedure Rules 2014-15

This page is intentionally left blank

Period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014

ESPO CPR EXCEPTIONS AND REQUESTED CONTRACT EXTENSIONS (WHERE NO						
	EXTENSION PERIOD REMAINS AND CONTRACT VALUE IS OVER £100K)					
Date request	Date of	Contract	Category	Exception	Approval Date and	
made and	referral and	Number	Team	or .	comments	
details	to whom	and Title	0 1 1 0	Extension		
22 April 2014 at PPP Chair:- Kristian Smith, Assistant Director	John Doherty, Director, emailed Brian Roberts (LCC) (as per CPRs) Copy to Kate Shaw, Commercial Manager and Chris Tambini (LCC)	364/10 Stairlifts, Steplifts and Hoists	Social Care and Health	Extension for one month 1 to 31 May 2014	Extension requested whilst retender completes 6 May 2014 BR approved the extension to 31 May 2014	
22 April 2014 at PPP Chair:- Kristian Smith Assistant Director	30 April 2014 John Doherty, Director, emailed Brian Roberts (LCC) (as per CPRs) Copy to Kate Shaw, Commercial Manager and Chris Tambini (LCC)	364LS Servicing & Maintenance LCC and Leicester City Council	Social Care and Health	Extension for one month 1 to 31 May 2014	Extension requested whilst retender completes 6 May 2014 BR approved the extension to 31 May 2014	

This page is intentionally left blank

Proposed Amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules (2013-14)

Appendix B

LCC Rule	ESPO Rule	Proposed Amendment	Rationale	Current Wording
Rule 6 -Exceptions		f) residential placements sought for an individual under the Shared Lives scheme [or any equivalent scheme]	New Rule added to allow exceptions to the rules under a Shared Lives Scheme	New Rule- Rule 6(a)(iv)(f)
Rule 11- Procurement Exercise Process		Procurement Exercise Process (a) Based on the Estimated Value, as identified in Rule 10, Table 1 below makes provision for the minimum requirements for the subsequent Procurement Exercise. (b) All contracts with an Estimated Value of £100,000 or more must be referred to ESPO subject to any general exceptions agreed with ESPO prior to the commencement of the Procurement Exercise by the Procuring Officer unless the Procuring Officer acting on advice of the Category Manager considers that the Council can better comply with its duty of Best Value by not using ESPO. All such cases must be confirmed in writing to the Director of Corporate Resources. Table 1: Minimum requirements for a Procurement Exercise (for exceptions see Rule 6): []	Rule amended to improve readability and to make clear that the Exception Rule 6 applies to all derogations from the rules. Also all reference to 'Rule 5' in Table 1 has been amended to Rule 6	(b) All contracts with an Estimated Value of £100,000 or more must be referred to ESPO subject to any general exceptions agreed with ESPO prior to the commencement of the Procurement Exercise by the Procuring Officer unless the Procuring Officer acting on advice of the Category Manager considers that the Council can better comply with its duty of Best Value by not using ESPO. All such cases must be confirmed in writing to the Director of Corporate Resources. Table 1: Minimum requirements for a Procurement Exercise (for exceptions see Rule 5):[]
Rule 19 -Irregular Tenders		(c) Tenders other than E-Tenders where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more are not valid unless they are received in a plain sealed envelope or parcel addressed to the Chief Executive the envelope or package must bear the word "Tender" followed by the subject to which it relates. (d) E-Tenders must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the electronic tendering process used. (e) Where a Tender has been received which is an Irregular Tender in that it does not fully comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender and/or because it is received after the appointed time for receipt or does not comply with Rules 19(b) or 19(c), the provisions of Rules 19(f) and 19(g) apply. (f) A Tender other than an E-Tender which is received after the closing date and time may opened and evaluated in accordance with Rule 20 if there is clear evidence of it having:- []	Rule 19 has been amended to take account of the introduction of electronic tendering and to ensure that procurements conducted via an electronic tendering system are regulated in the same manner as the paper tenders.) A Tender is not valid unless it has been delivered to the place appointed in accordance with Rule 18 and not later than the appointed day and hour. (c) Tenders where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more are not valid unless they are received in a plain sealed envelope or parcel addressed to the Chief Executive. The envelope or package must bear the word "Tender" followed by the subject to which it relates. (d) Where a Tender has been received which is an Irregular Tender in that it does not fully comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender and/or because it is received after the appointed time for receipt or does not comply with Rules 19(b) and 19(c), the provisions of Rules 19(e) and 19(f) apply. (e) A Tender received after the closing date and time may be opened and evaluated in accordance with Rule 20 if there is clear evidence of it having:-[]
Rule 20 -Receipt and Opening of Tenders		 (a) Rule 20(b) to (f) apply only to Tenders where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more and the Tender is not an E-Tender. Rule 20 (g) applies to E-Tenders only (b) On receipt, envelopes containing Tenders must be date and time stamped by the Chief Executive and shall remain in his custody until they are opened. (c) The Chief Executive must keep a record of all Tenders received. (d) Tenders must be opened at one time in the presence of not less than two Officers one of whom is not involved in the Procurement Exercise and who is designated by the Chief Executive. Each Officer must initial each Tender once opened which must also be date stamped. (e) Particulars of all Tenders opened must be entered by the Chief Executive upon the record which must be signed by the Officers present at the opening, together with a note of all Irregular Tenders. (f) The Chief Executive must forthwith send a copy of the record to the appropriate Procuring Officer (with the Tenders) and must retain a copy himself. (g) E-Tenders must be opened in accordance with the requirements of the electronic tendering process used. 	Rule 20 has been amended to take account of the introduction of electronic tendering and to ensure that procurements conducted via an electronic tendering system are regulated in the same manner as the paper tenders.	Receipt and Opening of Tenders (a) Rule 20 applies to Tenders where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more, except where using an electronic tendering system that does not allow Tenders to be accessed until the deadline for Tender submissions has passed, and where Rule 9(g) has been followed. (b) On receipt, envelopes containing Tenders must be date and time stamped by the Chief Executive and shall remain in his custody until they are opened. The Chief Executive must keep a record of all Tenders received. (c) Tenders must be opened at one time in the presence of not less than two Officers one of whom is not involved in the Procurement Exercise and who is designated by the Chief Executive. Each Officer must initial each Tender once opened which must also be date stamped. (d) Particulars of all Tenders opened must be entered by the Chief Executive upon the record which must be signed by the Officers present at the opening, together with a note of all Irregular Tenders. (e) The Chief Executive must forthwith send a copy of the record to the appropriate Procuring Officer (with the Tenders) and must retain a copy himself.

4	Rule 30 -Contract Variations	In the case of a contract which was originally approved by the Executive and where any variations are considered significant by the Director of Corporate Resources or the County Solicitor in consultation with the appropriate Category Manager, then authority must be gained from the Executive. In all other circumstance the following applies 30 (a) Prior to any variation being agreed which would result in an increase in the Total Value of the contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient additional budget provision has been approved by the budget holder. 30 (b) If the Total Value of the contract is under £100,000, including the planned variation, the Appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the appropriate Category Manager shall be authorised to vary the contract. 30 (c) In the case of a contract with a Total Value of £100,000 or more: i) for variation(s) that would increase or decrease the Total Value of the contract by 10% or more, the Appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the appropriate Category Manager and the County Solicitor must gain the prior approval of the Director of Corporate Resources. This authorisation must be issued before the work is carried out, or in the case of an emergency, immediately thereafter. (ii) for any variation(s) that would increase or decrease the Total Value of the contract by less than 10% the Appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the appropriate Category Manager shall be authorised to vary the contract. This authorisation must be issued before the work is carried out, or in the case of an emergency, immediately thereafter.	Rule 30 has been amended so that it follows the same format as Rule 31	Contract Variations (a) Prior to any variation being agreed which would result in an increase in the Total Value of the contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient additional budget provision has been approved by the budget holder. (b) If the Total Value of the contract is under £100,000, including the planned variation, the Appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the appropriate Category Manager shall be authorised to vary the contract. This authorisation must be issued before the work is carried out, or in the case of an emergency, immediately thereafter. (c) In the case of a contract with a Total Value of £100,000 or more: (i) for any variation(s) that would increase or decrease the Total Value of the contract by 10% or more, the Appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the appropriate Category Manager and the County Solicitor must gain the prior approval of the Director of Corporate Resources. This authorisation must be issued before the work is carried out, or in the case of an emergency, immediately thereafter; (ii) for any variation(s) that would increase or decrease the Total Value of the contract by less than 10% the Appropriate Chief Officer in consultation with the appropriate Category Manager shall be authorised to vary the contract. This authorisation must be issued before the work is carried out, or in the case of an emergency, immediately thereafter.
5	Schedule 1 -Interpretation "Category Manager" Schedule 1 -Interpretation "E-tender"	"Category Manager" means a Commercial Specialist or other Officer authorised by the Director of Corporate Resources to manage the procurement of a category or categories of goods, services and/or works. Where there is no Category Manager for the goods, services and/or works being procured the Head of Procurement shall adopt this role. "E-Tender" means a Tender that has been submitted using an electronic tendering system that complies with Rule 5 (g).	Definition of Category Manager amended following the restructure of the Corporate Procurement Unit into a Commercial and Procurement Service, the amendment therefore takes account of the change in the officers designation but at the same time recognising the category management approach. The term has been introduced to take account of electronic tendering.	"Category Manager" means the Officer authorised by the Director of Corporate Resources to manage the procurement of a category or categories of goods, services and/or works. Where there is no Category Manager for the goods, services and/or works being procured the Head of Procurement shall adopt this role. New definition
7	Schedule 1 -Interpretation "Tender"	"Tender" means the formal offer from a Tenderer, which is capable of acceptance by the Council, which is a response to an Invitation to Tender. It shall include all documents comprising the submission including pricing, technical specification and method statements as well as information about the Tenderer. A written Quote or Quotation is also a Tender. The term "Tender" also includes an E-Tender except where the context implies otherwise.	The amendment has been made to take account of electronic tendering.	"Tender" means the formal offer from a Tenderer, which is capable of acceptance by the Council, which is a response to an Invitation to Tender. It shall include all documents comprising the submission including pricing, technical specification and method statements as well as information about the Tenderer. A written Quote or Quotation is also a Tender.

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES



Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO)

Contract Procedure Rules (DRAFT)

2014-15

ESPO Contract Procedure Rules

These Contract Procedure Rules are to be read in conjunction with the Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO) Constitution and the Scheme of Delegation to the Director of ESPO and in the event of conflict the provisions in the ESPO Constitution and the Scheme of Delegation shall prevail.

ESPO is a joint Committee of Local Authorities which operates within the Local Government (Goods & Services) Act 1970.

ESPO acts as a purchasing agent for its member authorities which include the county councils of Leicestershire, Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire, Norfolk, Warwickshire, and the city councils of Leicester and Peterborough, as well as non-member local authorities and other customers, including public sector commercial organisations, charities and voluntary sector organisations.

The Contract Procedure Rules apply where ESPO is acting alone or for a wider group of member authorities and/or non-member local authorities and/or other customers. Where ESPO is acting on behalf of one of its members, the member's Contract Procedure Rules will apply. Where ESPO is acting on behalf of one non-member authority or customer, ESPO's Contract Procedure Rules shall apply, unless it is agreed with the non-member or customer that their Contract Procedure Rules apply.

Leicestershire County Council acts as ESPO's 'Servicing Authority', providing appropriate professional support, including secretarial, administrative, legal, personnel, and financial services. Leicestershire County Council's Director of Corporate Resources acts as ESPO's Treasurer, and has a responsibility to ensure that decisions relating to the finance and financial management of ESPO are sound. Leicestershire County Council's County Solicitor ("the County Solicitor") provides legal advice to ESPO on behalf of the Consortium Secretary.

GENERAL

RULE 1

Compliance

Officers must comply with these Rules. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action.

The Director of ESPO may delegate his responsibilities under these Rules in accordance with Rule 6 of Section D (General scheme of delegation to heads of departments) of Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) of the Constitution.

RULE 2

Interpretation

Words and expressions used in these Rules are to be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 1.

RULE 3

Application

These Rules apply to every procurement Contract made by or on behalf of ESPO, and every procurement Contract made on behalf of a group of ESPO members and/or non-members except Contracts:

- (i) for only the acquisition or disposal of any interest in land;
- (ii) for the lending or borrowing of money;
- (iii) of employment (making an individual a direct employee of ESPO).

PROCUREMENT PRINCIPLES

RULE 4

General Requirements

- (a) Every Contract or official order for works, supplies or services made by ESPO shall be in accordance with ESPO's Business Strategy and duty of Best Value.
- (b) When proposing to procure or making arrangements for procuring a service contract where the Estimated Value exceeds the EU Threshold then consideration must be given as to how the Contract might improve the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the relevant area as required by the Public Services (Social value) Act 2012. This duty also relates to Part B Services where the Estimated Value exceeds the EU Threshold for Services.
- (c) Procedures set out in the relevant EU Directives, EU Treaties, Acts of Parliament and UK legislation must be complied with at all times.
- (d) Based on criteria laid down by the Director of Corporate Resources, the Director of ESPO will be responsible for evaluating the financial status of Tenderers and suppliers.
- (e) The Procuring Officer/ESPO Client must ensure that sufficient budget provision has been agreed with the budget holder prior to any Procurement Exercise being undertaken.
- (f) Procurement Exercises may be undertaken by electronic means provided that:
 - (i) the requirements of these Rules are followed with only such modifications as may be necessary to allow for procurement by such means; and
 - (ii) any electronic tendering system has been approved by the Director of ESPO.
- (g) Subject to the provisions of Rule 27(b) (Framework Agreements) Contracts shall not be longer than 5 years (including extensions) or of indeterminate length without the written approval of the Director of ESPO on advice of the appropriate Head of Category. Any such approval shall be sought prior to the commencement of the Procurement Exercise.

RULE 5

Exceptions

- (a) Subject to the requirements of EU Directives, EU Treaties, Acts of Parliament and UK Regulations the following Contracts may be placed by direct negotiation with one or more suppliers, Contracts:-
 - (i) for supplies, materials, services or works which are available only as proprietary or patented articles, services or works from one contractor or

supplier and for which the Director of ESPO, on the advice of the appropriate Head of Category, decides that there is no reasonably satisfactory alternative available in the European Union and for repairs to, or the supply of, parts of existing proprietary or patented articles or works including machinery or plant; a note of that decision and the reasons for it must be retained on the appropriate file and where the Contract exceeds £100,000, a copy of the note and reasons must be provided to the Director of Corporate Resources.

- (ii) for works of art, museum specimens or historical documents;
- (iii) which constitute a variation or extension of an existing Contract, as permitted by the Contract and/or ESPO's Standard Financial Instructions subject to the provisions of Rule 29 (Contract Variations), Rule 30 (Contract Extensions) and Rule 31 (Novation of Existing Contracts);

In the above circumstances, the Procuring Officer must retain on file a record of the negotiations surrounding the Contract awards and notify the Director of ESPO.

- (b) Other exceptions to these Rules may only be made within the relevant law and with the authority:-
 - (i) of the Director of ESPO where the Estimated Value of the proposed Contract is under £100,000. The Director of ESPO shall maintain a record specifying the reason for all such departures; or
 - (ii) of the ESPO Management Committee where it is satisfied that an exception is justified on its merits. In an urgent case the Director of ESPO in consultation with the Chairman or Deputy Chairman of the ESPO Management Committee (save where this is not practicable) may direct that an exception be made subject to this being reported to the next meeting of the ESPO Management Committee.

RULE 6

Financial Thresholds and Delegation

- (a) Financial limits and thresholds within these Rules may be varied from time to time by the Servicing Authority's Corporate Governance Committee.
- (b) Arrangements for delegation of functions to officers within these Rules may be varied from time to time by the Chief Executive.

RULE 7

Annual Reporting

The Director of ESPO in consultation with the County Solicitor shall at least once in each financial year submit a report to the ESPO Management Committee in relation to the operation of these Rules including among other things details of the approved exceptions to these Rules and approved extensions to contract where not provided for in the contract, and proposed revisions to these Rules and/or changes required to accommodate the requirements of UK and EU procurement law as may be necessary from time to time.

Prevention of Corruption / Conflict of Interest

- (a) The Employee Code of Conduct (Part 5b of the Servicing Authority's Constitution) applies to any Procurement Exercise.
- (b) The following clause, or a clause that is substantially similar, will be included as a standard term and condition in every written Contract in accordance with Rule 24(c):
 - "ESPO/[ESPO Client] may terminate this Contract and recover all its loss from the Contractor if the Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor's behalf do any of the following things:
 - (i) offer, give or agree to give to anyone any personal inducement or reward in respect of this or any other ESPO/[ESPO Client] Contract (even if the Contractor does not know what has been done); or
 - (ii) commit an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or give any fee or reward, the receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972; or
 - (iii) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other ESPO/ESPO Client Contract whether alone or in conjunction with contractors or employees.

Any clause limiting the Contractor's liability shall not apply to this clause".

PROCUREMENT EXERCISE

RULE 9

Pre-Estimate

- (a) Before any Procurement Exercise is begun the Procuring Officer must calculate its Estimated Value in accordance with this clause.
- (b) The Estimated Value shall be calculated as follows:
 - (i) Where the Contract period is fixed the Estimated Value shall be the total estimated maximum value of the supplies, services or works to be supplied over the period covered including any extensions to the Contract;
 - (ii) Where the Contract period is indeterminate the Estimated Value shall be calculated by multiplying the estimated average monthly value by 48;
 - (iii) For feasibility studies the Estimated Value shall be the value of the scheme or Contracts which may be awarded as a result;
 - (iv) For Concessions the Estimated Value shall be the estimated gross value of the service before income over the Contract period.
 - (v) The Estimated Value must exclude Value Added Tax (VAT) but must include all other taxes and duties.
 - (vi) Periodic purchases for the same requirement, whether that is from the same or different suppliers, must be aggregated over a minimum of a 12 month period.
 - (vii) Where ESPO / ESPO Clients contribute to the total value of a Contract, it is the total Estimated Value that should be applied in determining the correct procedures to be applied under these Rules.
- (c) Where there is any doubt as to the Estimated Value then the procedure for the higher threshold in Rule 10 must be used.

RULE 10

Procurement Exercise Process

(a) Based on the Estimated Value, as identified in Rule 9, Table 1 below makes provision for the minimum requirements for the subsequent Procurement Exercise.

Table 1: Minimum requirements for a Procurement Exercise (for exceptions see Rule 5)

Estimated Contract Value		Procurement Process	Minimum Contract Opportunity	Documentation
From (£)	Up to (£)	Process	Publication	
£0	£1,000	Obtain a minimum of one oral/written Quotation	None	Record details

21

Estimated Contract Value From (£) Up to (£)		Procurement	Minimum Contract Opportunity	Documentation
		Process	Publication	
£1,000	£20,000	Obtain three written Quotations (where practical)	When inviting quotations officers should consider the benefits of including a local supplier in the invitation to quote where appropriate or applicable to the contract. ¹	Record details. (If three Quotations cannot be obtained a record of the reasons for this must be maintained and forwarded to the appropriate Head of Category).
£20,000	£100,000	Seek written Quotations (to be based on a Request for Quotation document where practical)	Website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market.	Request for Quotation issued by the Procuring Officer and Quotations received.
£100,000	EU Threshold	Formal Tender Process	Website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market	Formal Tender and sealed bids (may be submitted via an electronic tendering system, see Rule 4(f))
EU Threshold	Above	Formal Tender Process	OJEU and on a website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market	Formal Tender and sealed bids (may be submitted via an electronic tendering system, see Rule 4(f))

(b) Details of oral Quotations must be recorded appropriately.

RULE 11

Selection and Award Evaluation Criteria

- (a) A Procurement Exercise must include both selection and award criteria;
- (b) Selection criteria must be included in the evaluation process where employing the Open Tendering procedure (Rule 14) or must be the only criteria used for the shortlisting methodology where employing the Restricted procedure (Rule 15).

RULE 12

Award Methodology and Evaluation Criteria

- (a) The award methodology must be either:
 - the most economically advantageous Tender based on a range of predetermined evaluation criteria which must be set out in the Invitation to Tender; or

¹ ESPO cannot give preference to local suppliers, as there are legislative constraints and such a policy would be incompatible with Best Value. However, ESPO recognises that that there can be barriers limiting or restricting the ability of smaller suppliers to compete for ESPO business. ESPO will seek to reduce the impact of such barriers, where it can do so legally, without discrimination, and without placing unacceptable levels of risk on ESPO.

4G Contract Procedure Rules

Page 6 of 21

- the lowest price (where ESPO/ESPO Client is to pay the supplier); or
- the highest price (where the supplier is to pay ESPO/ESPO Client).
- (b) Before a Contract can be awarded the supplier must meet the minimum standard for the selection criteria where included in the evaluation process where employing the Open Tendering procedure (Rule 14) or where the only criteria used for the shortlisting methodology where employing the Restricted procedure (Rule 15).
- (c) In the case of a Procurement Exercise with an Estimated Value of £20,000 or more the process for identifying the most economically advantageous Tender, including selection and award criteria, must be agreed in consultation with the appropriate Head of Category/ESPO Client and included in the RFQ/Invitation to Tender and a copy retained on file.
- (d) The Procuring Officer must notify all Tenderers of the award methodology and evaluation criteria being used in the case of the Contract in question. If weightings are to be applied to the criteria then the Procuring Officer must ensure that these are also incorporated into the Invitation to Tender.

Contract Opportunity Publication

- (a) Unless otherwise agreed by the Director of ESPO the Procuring Officer must ensure, for all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £20,000 or more but less than the relevant EU Threshold, that public notice is given on a website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market.
- (b) For all proposed contracts where the Total Value is below the EU threshold, a period of at least fifteen days should be allowed between the closing date for requests for the Invitation to Tender and either:
 - i) the deadline for receipt of Tenders, where an Open Tendering procedure is being used, or
 - ii) the deadline for receipt of Pre-Qualification Questionnaires or Expressions of Interest, where a Restricted Tendering procedure is being used.
- (c) The Contract Opportunity Publication must express the nature and purpose of the Procurement Exercise, stating where further details may be obtained and inviting Tenders or Quotations in response to the Contract Opportunity Publication.
- (d) If the Estimated Value exceeds the relevant EU Threshold the Procuring Officer must ensure that the Contract Opportunity Publication is first published in the OJEU and then on a website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market. Part B Services need only be advertised on a website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market.
- (e) Under no circumstances must a Contract Opportunity Publication appear in any form before publication in the OJEU and neither should any advertisement contain any more information than that published in the OJEU.
- (f) Rule 13 is a minimum requirement and does not preclude further Contract Opportunity Publication where appropriate (e.g. in the local newspaper, trade or professional journal, the ESPO website).

PROCUREMENT PROCESS

RULE 14

Open Tendering

Under Open Tendering, the Procuring Officer must send Invitations to Tender to all those Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity Publication and who meet the requirements stated therein.

RULE 15

Restricted Tendering

- (a) Rule 15 applies to Tenders where the Estimated Value is equal to or exceeds the EU Threshold.
- (b) Under Restricted Tendering, the Procuring Officer need only send Invitations to Tender to:
 - (i) not less than five of the Persons who respond to the Contract Opportunity Publication and who best meet the shortlisting methodology agreed in Rule 12(b); or
 - (ii) where fewer than five Persons have applied or are considered suitable, to all those Persons who equal or exceed the minimum requirements for the shortlisting methodology agreed in Rule 12(b).
- (c) The shortlisting criteria and process must be prepared (in consultation with the ESPO Client) in advance of the issue of the Pre-Qualification Questionnaire and a copy retained on record.
- (d) All Persons that do not qualify for inclusion on the shortlist to receive an Invitation to Tender must receive notice that they have been excluded from the Procurement Exercise. Any Person requesting in writing the reasons why they were unsuccessful shall be informed by the Procuring Officer of the reasons for ESPO/ESPO Client decision.

RULE 16

Negotiated Procedure and Competitive Dialogue Procedure

- (a) Where the Negotiated Procedure or Competitive Dialogue Procedure is used the requirements of the EU Directive and where appropriate these Rules shall be followed.
- (b) The Negotiated Procedure or Competitive Dialogue Procedure must only be used with the prior approval of the Director of Corporate Resources.

[Note: A short briefing note for the approval of the Director of Corporate Resources, in consultation with the County Solicitor, is required to justify the use of the Negotiated Procedure or Competitive Dialogue Procedure. For example, in the case of the Competitive Dialogue Procedure, this note would need to show how the proposed procurement satisfied the twofold test, that:

- (i) the use of the open or restricted procedure would not allow the award of Contract; and
- (ii) the procurement would be considered complex.]

Invitations to Tender

- (a) Every Invitation to Tender must specify the latest day and hour and the place appointed for the receipt of Tenders and, for Tenders where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more, must state the effect of Rule 18.
- (b) The Procuring Officer must give all Tenderers the same information about the Procurement Exercise and in particular information relating to the tender process, specification, award methodology and evaluation criteria.
- c) The Procuring Officer must also give all Tenderers the same information relating to questions, answers and clarifications raised during the Procurement Exercise unless they relate solely to another Person's Tender.
- (d) Tenders, where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more, must be addressed to and opened by the Director of ESPO or handled via an electronic tendering system approved in accordance with Rule 4 (f).
- (e) Where Tenders are to be received by the Director of ESPO, the Procuring Officer must send to the Director of ESPO a note of the subject and the closing date and time and (where appropriate) a list of the Persons invited to tender together with the Estimated Value before the closing date for receipt of Tenders.

RULE 18

Irregular Tenders

- (a) An Irregular Tender must not be accepted by either the Director of ESPO or the Procuring Officer, other than in accordance with this Rule.
- (b) A Tender is not valid unless it has been delivered to the place appointed in accordance with Rule 17 and not later than the appointed day and hour.
- (c) Tenders other than E-Tenders where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more are not valid unless they are received in a plain sealed envelope or parcel addressed to the Director of ESPO. The envelope or package must bear the word "Tender" followed by the subject to which it relates.
- (d) E-Tenders must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of the electronic tendering process used.
- (e) Where a Tender has been received which is an Irregular Tender in that it does not fully comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender and/or because it is received after the appointed time for receipt or does not comply with Rules 18(b) or 18(c), the provisions of Rules 18(f) and 18(g) apply.
- (f) A Tender other than an E-Tender which is received after the closing date and time can be opened and evaluated in accordance with Rule 19 if there is clear evidence of it having:-

- (i) been posted by first class post at least a day before the closing date; OR
- (ii) been posted by second class post at least three days before the closing date; OR
- (iii) been placed in the custody of a courier who has provided written assurance of delivery prior to the closing date and time.
- (g) If in other cases of Irregular Tenders the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the County Solicitor, considers that there are exceptional circumstances and that the Tenderer who submitted the Irregular Tender has gained no advantage from its irregularity he or she may determine to accept the Irregular Tender and authorise that it be opened and evaluated together with any other Tenders in accordance with Rule 19. The Director of ESPO shall record in writing the reasons why each Irregular Tender has been accepted or rejected.
- (h) Irregular Tenders that the Director of ESPO has rejected under this Rule must be returned to the Tenderer by the Director of ESPO with a covering letter stating the reason for their rejection.

Receipt and Opening of Tenders

- (a) Rule 19 (b) to (f) apply only to Tenders where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more and the Tender is not an E-Tender. Rule 19 (g) applies to E-Tenders only.
- (b) On receipt, envelopes containing Tenders must be date and time stamped by the Director of ESPO and shall remain in his custody until they are opened.
- (c) The Director of ESPO must keep a record of all Tenders received.
- (d) Tenders must be opened at one time in the presence of not less than two Officers one of whom is not involved in the Procurement Exercise and who is designated by the Director of ESPO. Each Officer must initial each Tender once opened which must also be date stamped.
- (e) Particulars of all Tenders opened must be entered by the Director of ESPO upon the record which must be signed by the Officers present at the opening, together with a note of all irregular Tenders.
- (f) The Director of ESPO must forthwith send a copy of the record to the appropriate Procuring Officer (with the Tenders) and must retain a copy himself.
- (g) E-Tenders must be opened in accordance with the requirements of the electronic tendering process used.

RULE 20

Errors or Discrepancies in Tenders

a) Tenderers are not allowed to alter their Tenders after opening save in accordance with this Rule or Rule 21.

- (b) Where it is suspected that there has been an error in a Tender and following the closing date for receipt of Tenders but before acceptance of any Tender discussions may take place with Tenderers in order to seek clarification from Tenderers.
- (c) A written note of the discussions must be made by the Procuring Officer to record the suspected error, date, time, detail of the discussion and any agreement reached.

Discussions and Post Tender Negotiations

- (a) Subject to Rule 21(c), in the case where the Estimated Value was below the EU Threshold, and following the closing date for receipt of Tenders but before acceptance of any Tender, the Procuring Officer in consultation with the appropriate Head of Category may carry out Post Tender Negotiations in an attempt to secure improvements in the price or economic advantage in one or more of the following circumstances:
 - (i) where the most competitive Tender (according to the pre-determined award methodology and evaluation criteria) submitted exceeds the Estimated Value;
 - (ii) where it is considered that the price of the most competitive Tender submitted does not represent the Best Value for money that can reasonably be obtained;
 - (iii) where Tenders have been invited only on the basis of unit prices or a schedule of rates and the lowest in aggregate is not the lowest on all items;
 - (iv) where the most competitive Tender contains conditions, trading terms, guarantees, or provisions relating to performance or service delivery less favourable than in other Tenders, or than stipulated for and this defect appears capable of being remedied by Post Tender Negotiations.
- (b) When conducting Post Tender Negotiations, as part of a Procurement Exercise where the Estimated Value is £100,000 or more (but below the EU Threshold) and subject to Rule 21(c), only the Tenderer submitting the most competitive Tender in accordance with the award methodology and evaluation criteria (Rule 12) may be invited to participate in Post Tender Negotiations.
- (c) When conducting Post Tender Negotiations, the following additional rules shall apply:
 - (i) At no time during the negotiations must a Tenderer be informed of the detail of any other Tender submitted or as to whether or not the Tender he submitted was the lowest.
 - (ii) During negotiations in person there must always be present at least two Officers or ESPO Client officers.
 - (iii) A note of the negotiations will be made by one of the officers referred to in the proceeding rule present recording those present, the time and location of the negotiations, detail of the discussion and any agreement reached.
 - (iv) Post Tender Negotiations shall not enable any material departure from the published specification. The County Solicitor shall determine whether any proposed change to the specification constitutes a material departure and whether as a consequence other Tenderers shall be permitted to participate in

Post Tender Negotiations and/or whether new Tenders should be invited, to avoid any potential allegations of competition being distorted.

(d) Post Tender Negotiations are not allowed in the case of Contracts with an Estimated Value exceeding the relevant EU threshold. However, clarifications of errors or discrepancies in Tenders may take place in accordance with Rule 20.

AWARD OF CONTRACT

RULE 22

Acceptance of Tenders

- (a) A Tender can only be accepted in accordance with the initial award methodology and evaluation criteria as set out in Rule 12. Any evaluation sheets must be maintained on file in accordance with Rule 33.
- (b) Any Tender with an Estimated Value of below £20,000 (where a Request for Quotation or an Invitation to Tender is not used) may only be accepted with the prior written approval of the Director of ESPO.
- (c) If the Tender to be accepted exceeds the budget which was agreed in accordance with Rule 4(e) the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient funds are available and approved by the ESPO Client, appropriate budget holder, Director of ESPO, or the ESPO Management Committee as appropriate, prior to accepting the Tender.
- (d) An abnormally low Tender may not be rejected without first giving the Tenderer the opportunity to explain the tendered price.
- (e) The Director of ESPO shall have the authority to accept a Tender but in any particular circumstance may decline to give approval and refer the decision to the ESPO Management Committee to determine.

RULE 23

Notification of Contract Award

- (a) The Procuring Officer must notify the successful Tenderer of the acceptance of their Tender and for all Procurement Exercises with an Estimated Value of £1,000 or more this notification must be in writing.
- (b) In the case where the Estimated Value is £20,000 or more the Procuring Officer must notify in writing all Tenderers who submitted a Tender of the decision as soon as possible after the decision has been made.
- (c) In the case where the Estimated Value is equal to or above the appropriate EU Threshold, the following additional Rules shall apply:
 - (i) The notice in rule 23 (b) shall include the award criteria, the reasons for the decision, including the successful Person's score, the score (if any) of the Person receiving the notice, and the characteristics and (if appropriate) relative advantages of the successful Person's Tender, any reasons why the recipient of the notice did not meet the technical specification, the name of the Person awarded the Contract, as well as the date when the standstill period required in accordance with Rule 23 (c) (ii) will come to an end.

- (ii) A minimum period of 10 calendar days must elapse between the day of sending the notice in Rule 23 (b) and the date on which ESPO/ESPO Client enter into a Contract if the notice is sent electronically. Where the notice is sent by other means then either 15 days from the day of sending the notice or 10 days from the day of receipt of the notice by the last Tenderer to receive the notice must elapse. In all cases counting the day after sending the notice as day 1. The standstill period must end on a working day.
- (iii) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that an OJEU Contract award notice is placed within 48 days of the Contract award.

Form of Contract

- (a) A Contract shall be formed:
 - (i) by exchange of letter or electronic communication accepting the successful Tender and incorporating the Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation and the outcome of any subsequent negotiations and discussions; or
 - (ii) by completion of a formal Contract incorporating the Invitation to Tender or Request for Quotation, the Tender or Quotation and the outcome of any subsequent negotiations and/or discussions; or
 - (iii) by placing an order in accordance with Rule 25.
- (b) In determining and negotiating the terms and conditions of Contract, the Procuring Officer must ensure that the appropriate Standard Terms and Conditions are incorporated unless the Procuring Officer having consulted the Director of ESPO and the County Solicitor considers it inappropriate to do so.
- (c) All Contracts with an Estimated Value of £20,000 or more must be in writing and where appropriate the Director of ESPO shall:
 - (i) ensure that the Contract includes a definition of the circumstances that will be considered to constitute a default on the terms of the Contract by the supplier. The Contract must provide for notice of default to be given to the supplier and for any resulting losses to be recovered from the supplier if the default is not rectified.
 - (ii) decide whether it is necessary to require suppliers to provide a Performance Bond with a third party. The need for this will depend on an assessment of the risk associated with the Contract or the supplier.
 - (iii) ensure that the Contract provides for the supplier to have an insurance policy, which can be inspected during the Contract period. The Director of ESPO shall be consulted on the insurance requirements.

[Note: Insurance Levels (which may be amended for a specific Procurement Exercise, where appropriate, and agreed by the Procuring Officer with the Servicing Authority's Insurance Manager):

Employers Insurance = £10m (for each and every occurrence)

- Public/Third Party Insurance (including Products Liability, if needed) = £10m (for each and every occurrence)
- o Professional Indemnity (where appropriate) = £2m.

To vary the insurance levels for a particular Procurement Exercise approval must be gained from the Servicing Authority's Insurance Manager, or the ESPO Client Insurance Manager as appropriate.]

(iv) consult the Director of ESPO on the appropriate VAT requirements.

[Note: Should any advice on VAT be required for a particular Procurement Exercise, contact the Servicing Authority's Technical Accountant - Taxation Coordinator]

- (d) Every Contract must be signed by the Director of ESPO or an Officer designated by him or her and in cases determined by the County Solicitor shall be under seal in the form prepared or approved by him or her.
- (e) Except after consultation with the County Solicitor, work or services must not be authorised to commence or goods to be supplied where such works, services or goods are to be the subject of a Contract under seal until the County Solicitor has advised that the Contract has been signed by the supplier.

RULE 25

Orders for work, goods and services

Orders for work, goods and services must only be placed in accordance with Instruction 8 of the Standard Financial Instructions.

STANDING LISTS

RULE 26

Standing Lists

- (a) Standing Lists must not be created or added to without the prior written approval of the Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Head of Category.
- (b) The Procuring Officer must not use a Standing List where the Total Value of Contracts to be awarded using the Standing List is estimated to exceed the relevant EU Threshold.
- (c) The Standing List must contain the names of all Persons who are approved and indicate the categories of Contract and the values or amounts in respect of those categories for which those Persons are approved.
- (d) At least four weeks before a list is first compiled, the Procuring Officer must publish on a website approved by the Director of ESPO for the purpose of notifying the supply market, a Contract Opportunity Publication inviting applications by a specified date for inclusion in it.
- (e) The Procuring Officer must renew all Standing Lists at intervals not exceeding four years. At least four weeks before each renewal, each Person whose name appears in the list must be notified by the Procuring Officer of the intention to review the list. If

they wish to remain on the list they must re-apply for inclusion. The Procuring Officer must ensure that the Contract Opportunity Publication inviting applications for inclusion in the list are published in the manner provided by Rule 26(d).

- (f) In the case where the use of a Standing List has been authorised the Procuring Officer must send Invitations to Tender to not less than four of the Persons from among those approved for a Contract of the relevant category and amount or value. Where fewer than four Persons are approved for a Contract of the relevant category and amount or value Invitations to Tender shall be sent to no fewer than three Persons. Where there are fewer than three Persons the procedure for Standing Lists must not be used unless the appropriate Head of Category advises otherwise.
- (g) The Procuring Officer in consultation with the appropriate Head of Category shall determine the criteria for selecting Persons from the list.
- (h) In such circumstances as the Director of ESPO shall determine, the Procuring Officer shall provide such information as shall reasonably be necessary of the extent to which Standing Lists have been utilised.

FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS

RULE 27

Framework Agreements

- (a) The Procuring Officer must establish all Framework Agreements in accordance with these Rules.
- (b) Framework Agreements must not be awarded for more than 4 years, including any extensions without the prior written consent of the Director of ESPO.
- (c) All suppliers on the Framework Agreement capable of performing the Contract must be invited to participate in a Further Competition unless it is clear from the terms of the Framework Agreement which supplier best meets the award methodology set out in the Framework Agreement in which case that supplier may be selected.
- (d) Additional suppliers may only be added to a Framework Agreement throughout its duration in circumstances where:
 - (i) the Estimated Value is below the EU Threshold;
 - (ii) the services tendered are Part B Services to which the full regime of the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 is not considered to apply; and

provided that the Invitation to tender states:

(i) that new suppliers may be added to the Framework Agreement;

and

(ii) how many suppliers can apply to be added to the Framework Agreement; and

that the same evaluation criteria and award methodology are applied when deciding whether to award a place on the Framework Agreement to new suppliers as were applied at the time of the original award.

Dynamic Purchasing Systems

The Procuring Officer must only establish Dynamic Purchasing Systems with the prior written approval of the Director of ESPO and in accordance with the requirements of the EU Directives and these Rules where appropriate.

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS

RULE 29

Contract Variations

In the case of a Contract which was originally approved by the ESPO Management Committee and where any variations are considered significant by the Director of ESPO or the County Solicitor in consultation with the appropriate Head of Category, then Authority must be gained from the ESPO Management Committee. In all other circumstances the following applies:

- (a) Prior to any variation being agreed which would result in an increase in the Total Value of the contract the Procuring Officer must ensure that sufficient additional budget provision has been approved by the budget holder, or ESPO Client.
- (b) If the Total Value of the Contract is under £100,000 including the planned variation, the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the appropriate Head of Category and the County Solicitor, shall be authorised to vary the Contract. This authorisation must be issued before the work is carried out, or in the case of an emergency, immediately thereafter.
- (a) In the case of a Contract with a Total Value of £100,000 or more:

i)for any variation(s) that would increase or decrease the Total Value of the Contract by 10% or more, the Director of ESPO shall before making any variation(s) consult with the Head of Category and the County Solicitor and must gain the prior approval of the ESPO Client (where the variation relates to an ESPO Client contract). This approval must be issued before the work is carried out, or in the case of an emergency immediately thereafter.

- ii) for any variation(s) that would increase or decrease the Total Value of the contract by less than 10% the Director of ESPO in consultation with the appropriate Head of Category shall be authorised to vary the Contract. This authorisation must be issued before the work is carried out, or in the case of an emergency, immediately thereafter.
- (b) All contract variations must be within the scope of the original contract.

RULE 30

Contract Extensions

If the Contract was originally approved by the ESPO Management Committee and where the duration of the planned extension is more than three months and not provided for in the Contract then authority must be gained from the ESPO Management Committee. In all other circumstances the following applies:

- (i) If the Total Value of a Contract, including the planned extension, is under £100,000 and the Contract provides for the extension the Director of ESPO shall be authorised to extend the Contract.
- (ii) If the Total Value of a Contract, including the planned extension, is £100,000 or more and the Contract provides for the extension the Director of ESPO shall be authorised to extend the Contract in consultation with the appropriate Head of Category.
- (iii) If the Total Value of a Contract, including the planned extension, is under £100,000 and the Contract does not provide for the extension the Director of ESPO, in consultation with the Procuring Officer and appropriate Head of Category shall be authorised to extend the Contract on a one-off basis.
- (iv) If the Total Value of a Contract, including the planned extension, is £100,000 or more and the Contract does not provide for the extension the Director of ESPO must gain the prior approval of the Director of Corporate Resources to extend the Contract.
- (v) In the case of Contracts tendered in accordance with the EU Directive any extension will only be permissible if this was properly described in the original OJEU notice, where applicable.

Novation of Existing Contracts

The novation of a Contract to a new Person requires the prior written approval of the Director of ESPO in consultation with the County Solicitor.

RULE 32

Early Termination of Contracts

Unless a provision for early termination is clearly stated in the Contract the Procuring Officer shall seek advice from the County Solicitor where it is intended to terminate a Contract early. Where the Total Value of the Contract is £100,000 or more the prior written approval of the Director of ESPO shall also be obtained.

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

RULE 33

Document Retention

- (a) All Contract records that might be required in court proceedings must be retained for at least six years and any under seal for at least twelve years from expiry of the Contract.
- (b) Where the Contract is externally funded any contingent liabilities and/or grant conditions must be taken account of by the length of the retention period.

RULE 34

Supervision of Contracts by Third Parties

(a) The Procuring Officer shall ensure that it is a condition of any Contract between ESPO and any Person (not being an Officer of ESPO) who is involved in a Procurement

Exercise or the management of a Contract on behalf of ESPO that in relation to that Contract he or she must comply with the requirements of these Rules and other reasonable requirements of ESPO.

- (b) Such Person must:
 - (i) at any time during the carrying out of the Contract produce to the Director of ESPO or his representative or ESPO Auditor on request all records maintained by him or her in relation to the Contract; and
 - (ii) on completion of the Contract transmit all records to the Director of ESPO.

RULE 35

Nominated Sub-Contractors and Suppliers

- (a) Where a sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated by ESPO/ESPO Client to a main contractor, the provisions of these Rules shall have effect.
- (b) The terms of an Invitation to Tender under Rule 17 must require an undertaking by the Tenderer that, if selected, they will be willing to enter into a Contract with the main contractor on terms which indemnify the main contractor against their own obligations under the main Contract in relation to the work, supplies or services included in the sub-contract.

SCHEDULE 1

Interpretation

- 1. "Best Value" means the duty of ESPO to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
- 2. The "Chief Executive" is the Chief Executive Officer of the Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council
- 3. 'Concessions' are contracts of the same type as public service contracts, except for the fact that the consideration for the provision of services or works consists either solely in the right to exploit the service or work, or in this right together with payment.
- 4. "Contract" means a binding agreement between two or more parties for performing, or refraining from performing, some specified act(s) in exchange for lawful consideration.
- 5. "Contract Extension" means an extension to the duration of the Contract, but not including any alteration to the scope of the Contract.
- 6. "Contract Opportunity Publication" is the means by which a Procurement Exercise is advertised and includes (where appropriate) the 'Contract Notice' as defined in the Public Contract Regulations 2006.
- 7. "Contract Variation" means an alteration to the scope of the Contract, but not the extension of the duration of the Contract.
- 8. The "County Solicitor" is the County Solicitor of the Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council.
- 9. The "Director of Corporate Resources" is the Director of Corporate Resources of the Servicing Authority, Leicestershire County Council, and acts as the ESPO Treasurer.
- 10. "Dynamic Purchasing System" means a completely electronic process, which has a limited duration, for making commonly used purchases, as more particularly defined and described in the Public Contract Regulations 2006.
- 11. The "ESPO Management Committee" is a joint committee appointed by ESPO's member authorities with the purpose of managing ESPO in accordance with Section 102 of the Local Government Act 1972. The committee comprises an equal number of elected members from each member authority.
- 12. "ESPO Client" means a group of ESPO member authorities and/or non-member local authorities and/or other customers, including commercial organisations, charities and voluntary sector organisations, for which ESPO is managing a procurement process.
- 13. "Estimated Value" means the value as estimated under Rule 9.
- 14."EU Threshold" means the respective threshold for Supplies, Works or Part A Services Contracts referred to in the Public Contract Regulations 2006.
- 15. "Formal Tender Process" is a process following the requirements of Open Tendering, Restricted Tendering, Standing List, Negotiated Procedure or Competitive Dialogue

- 16. "Framework Agreement" is a general term for agreements with suppliers which set out terms and conditions under which specific purchases (call-offs) can be made throughout the term of the agreement. The Framework Agreement may, itself, be a Contract to which the EU procurement directives apply.
- 17. A "Further Competition" is undertaken where not all the terms of a proposed Contract are laid down in a Framework Agreement. It involves re-opening competition between the economic operators which are parties to the Framework Agreement and which are capable of performing the proposed Contract, on the basis of the same or, if necessary, more precisely formulated terms, and where appropriate other terms referred to in the Contract documents based on the Framework Agreement.
- 18. The "Head of Category" is the most senior Procurement Officer within an ESPO Category Team, and is responsible for managing the section
- 19. "Invitation to Tender" means the document(s) containing the specification, proposed terms and conditions and other appropriate information as issued to the Tenderers to solicit Formal Tenders.
- 20. "Irregular Tender" means a Tender that does not fully comply with the instructions given in the Invitation to Tender.
- 21. "Officer" means an employee of ESPO.
- 22. "OJEU" means Official Journal of the European Union.
- 23. "Part A Services" are defined in <u>The Public Contract Regulations 2006</u>, and are distinct from the other type of services, Part B Services, defined in the Regulations. The Regulations that apply to the two types of service are different, with the procurement of Part A Services being more heavily regulated than for Part B Services.
- 24. "Part B Services" are defined in The Public Contract Regulations 2006,
 - and are distinct from the other type of services, Part A Services, defined in the Regulations. The Regulations that apply to the two types of service are different, with the procurement of Part A Services being more heavily regulated than for Part B Services.
- 25. "Person" includes a partnership, body corporate or unincorporated association.
- 26. "Post Tender Negotiations" means the ability to negotiate with a Tenderer after a Tender has been opened and evaluated in accordance with the published evaluation criteria for the purposes of securing an improvement in the delivery of the Contract including but not limited to improvements in price.
- 27. "Procurement Exercise" means any process by which goods, services and/or works are to be procured including but not limited to Request for Quotations and Formal Tender Processes. For the purpose of these Rules a Contract for a Concession shall be treated as a Procurement Exercise.
- 28. "Procuring Officer" means any Officer, acting under the delegated powers of the Director of ESPO, who is responsible for the procurement of goods and services.
- 29 "Public Contracts Regulations 2006" means the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 as amended, modified, consolidated, extended, re-enacted or replaced, including the Public Contracts (Amendment) Regulations 2009. These Regulations implement the EU

- Consolidated Directive on Public Procurement into UK law and reflect the principles of the EU Treaty of Rome.
- 30. A "Quotation" is an offer to sell works, goods and/or services at a stated price under specified conditions. A Quote or Quotation may or may not be written.
- 31. "Request for Quotation" ("RFQ") means a document or documents containing the specification, and proposed terms and conditions issued to potential suppliers to solicit written Quotations.
- 32. "Standard Terms and Conditions" means the standard contractual terms used by ESPO, including those attached to iprocurement orders (or orders generated by 'line of business' systems, those included in Request for Quotation templates, and standard industry terms.
- 33. "Standing List" means a list of Persons which has been established in accordance with Rule 26.
- 34. "Tender" means the formal offer from a Tenderer, which is capable of acceptance by ESPO/ESPO Client, which is a response to an Invitation to Tender. It shall include all documents comprising the submission including pricing, technical specification and method statements as well as information about the Tenderer. A written Quote or Quotation is also a Tender. The term "Tender" also includes an E-Tender except where the context implies otherwise.
- 35. "Tenderer" or "Tenderers" means the Person or Persons invited to participate in a Procurement Exercise.
- 36. "Total Value" means the value of a Contract which has been calculated in accordance with Rule 9(b) (excluding Rule 9(b)(vi)) reading where appropriate Total Value for Estimated Value.
- 37. "In writing" or "written" for the purpose of interpreting these Rules includes transmission by any electronic means which have been approved by the County Solicitor in consultation with the Director of Corporate Resources.
- 38. Words imparting the masculine include the feminine gender.

[end of Contract Procedure Rules]



ESPO MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 4 DECEMBER 2014

DIRECTOR'S PROGRESS UPDATE

Purpose of Report

1. The purpose of this report is to update members of the actions and progress made since the last ESPO Management Committee meeting held on 25 September 2014.

Overall Financial Performance

- 2. Overall financial performance for the seven months to October 2014 can be summarised as:
 - Sales to October at £53.3m are behind budget of £57.3m principally down to lower Gas sales which are weather dependant (see table below);
 - Rebate income is £2.6m compared to a budget of £1.9m and is tracking ahead of the prior year at this point, indicating a continued engagement in ESPO's procurement solutions;
 - Overall surplus is ahead of budget by £67K YTD.
- 3. Key figures underlying the total sales to October 2014 are as follows:

		YEAR TO DATE		
				PRIOR
		ACTUAL	BUDGET	YEAR
		£m	£m	£m
<u>SALES</u>				
	STORES	28.028	28.144	27.112
	DIRECT	12.435	12.436	14.222
	GAS	9.400	13.846	11.806
	CATALOGUE ADVERTISING	0.737	0.877	0.867
	REBATE INCOME	2.614	1.911	2.141
	MISCELLANEOUS INCOME	0.054	0.112	0.137
TOTAL SALES		53.271	57.327	56.288

4. A strategic discussion document to inform MTFS assumptions for 2015-16 and a report on the MTFS monitoring for the first six months of 2014-15 were originally presented to COG on 27 October 2014. The planning assumptions paper is included on this agenda at item number 12.

Balanced Scorecard

5. The balanced scorecard is attached as Appendix 1.

External Activities and Developments

PBOs. Pro5 members and beyond

- 6. Officers from Cambridgeshire, Leicestershire and Warwickshire attended the EU Procurement training session sponsored by ESPO on 16 September, 14 October and 18 November. These sessions are being offered free of charge to members through the Senior Officers Group. A final session is scheduled for 11 December.
- 7. Norfolk, Leicestershire, Warwickshire, Cambridgeshire and Lincolnshire are now committed to a spend analytics programme which will enable those members to focus efforts on the areas for the highest potential savings. The authorities' data is to be uploaded into LCAT. Subsequently this will be shared with ESPO to identify collaborative procurement opportunities.
- 8. I met with Matt Denham, Crown Commercial Services, on 17 October 2014. The key objectives of this meeting were around relationship and any potential collaboration which would result in better commercial outcomes for our members.
- 9. Professional buying organisations were invited to a National Advisory Group (NAG) meeting on 24 November 2014 to which ESPO attended. Discussions took place around progress against the National Procurement Strategy that went live in July 2014.
- 10. Consideration of that NAG meeting will be incorporated into the Pro5 event being hosted by ESPO and YPO in Birmingham on 27 January 2015. A broad collection of Public Sector procurement organisations will be invited to consider challenges from the Select Committee, and consider outcomes of the NAG meeting. It is intended that the future shape of Pro5 be utilised to consider 'place' from a procurement perspective.

ESPO Internal Developments

Member Liaison

11. I continue to meet members on a quarterly basis to discuss key themes which are arising and any items pertinent to members' specific needs. We discussed the ambitions of ESPO's future direction. Options for this are included within the strategic discussion document to inform MTFS assumptions for 2015-16.

Staff Survey

- 12. ESPO conducted its annual staff survey in August, with a total of 214 responses (circa 60%) completed by staff from all areas of ESPO. The results are being analysed by an independent party to provide an objective overview and comparison to last year's survey to determine progress against actions previously identified and to highlight themes for improvement over the course of 2014/15.
- 13. 'All Staff' briefings were held on 6 November to update on half-year progress and to give ESPO's employees an opportunity to raise questions. Generally, our staff are well engaged but there is also an underlying concern around satisfying customer demand during peak. This is a theme that was also raised in the staff survey.

ESPO Operational Progress

Warehouse

14. The warehouse team used August to process school holiday orders (SHO) whereby schools defer their delivery outside of the busy June and July peak. A total of £1.2m orders were processed comprising 62k lines. Deliveries were made to schools that are open during the school holiday, mainly secondary schools that were running summer events.

Sales & Marketing

Press and Media Coverage

- 15. The Leicester Mercury ran a favourable article on ESPO on line and in print on 18 November. It outlined ESPO's history, product range, and public sector ethos. It also favourably highlighted ESPO's strong connection with Leicestershire businesses and SMEs in particular.
- 16. ESPO's press coverage goes from strength to strength with August seeing our debut on BBC East Midlands Today. A short showcase of ESPO's schools' and stores' business featured ESPO's warehouse and provided a positive overview of our operations.

Website and IT

17. A data portal is being developed to allow account managers easy access to customer catalogue spend information. The team is starting to use this information to prioritise customer visits, frequency of contact and to support customers in a more effective way.

Campaigns, activities and newsletters

- 18. Further press coverage has concentrated on the print media with features in Educating magazine, PCR magazine, Ed Quarter magazine, Government Today magazine, University Business magazine, Emergency Services Times and Supply Management; coverage has been as diverse as ESPO's offering and included features on Free School Meals, our new banking framework, IT in schools, using frameworks and an introduction of ESPO to the housing sector.
- 19. Our annual price benchmarking exercise once again showed ESPO's current pricing policy is working, proving ESPO to be the cheapest supplier by 8%; the nearest other supplier was Nottinghamshire County Supplies. The exercise compares ESPO's top 100 lines, with ESPO comparing very favourably to other national suppliers, when taking into account the volume of sales across the range. The same basket of goods based on ESPO's volumes would have cost 35% more with Consortium/West Mercia Supplies, 27% more with GLS Educational Supplies and 12% more with YPO. Hertfordshire Supplies, Kent County Supplies and Nottinghamshire County Supplies were all about 8-10% more expensive.
- 20. Our biennial customer survey is issued to education and corporate customers in early December. In the main, it will follow the previous survey to allow for an accurate comparison to the previous survey; however some of the questions have been updated to reflect the current environment. The results will be independently analysed and a final report is expected in spring 2015.
- 21. Our latest marketing campaign focussed on 'back to school' with our new ESPO Essentials catalogue sent to all schools in England and Wales and approximately 8000 corporate customers that had also received our food and catering catalogue to further promote our Universal Infant Free School Meals (UIFSM) offer. The ESPO Essentials catalogue features our most popular 1000 lines alongside our SmartBuy range with a new look page design, some elements of which will be rolled through to the 2015/16 main catalogue.
- 22. Our Sales and Marketing team also undertook a Boston Matrix session with Heads of Category to establish the importance and priority of each of ESPO's frameworks. This has helped to inform our framework marketing plan and prioritise our efforts to further increase framework rebates.

ESPO Risk and Governance Update

Annual Review of Organisational Approach to Risk Management

23. A risk paper was presented separately to COG on 27 October 2014 at which time COG members were invited to contribute towards further shaping the ESPO risk strategy.

Corporate Risk Register

24. There have been no changes to the Major Risk Records in this quarter.

Audit Reports

25. There have been no audit reports in this quarter.

Resources Implications

26. None arising directly from this report.

Recommendation

27. Members are asked to note the contents of the report.

Officer to Contact

John Doherty, Director J.Doherty@espo.org, 0116 265 7931

Appendix 1

Balanced Scorecard

